1950

1951

1952

1953

1954

1955

1956

1957

1958

1959

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned Counsel of Record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or refusal:

1. Stephanie Elaina Bounds, Plaintiff-Appellant;
2. Robert Earl Bounds; Appellee;
3. E. Michael Marks and Julie Ann Epps, counsel for Appellant on appeal;
4. E. Michael Marks, counsel for Appellant at trial;
5. John D. Fike, counsel for Appellee at trial and on appeal;
6. Denise Owens, Chancellor

This, the 2nd day of August, 2010.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN GRANTING ROBERT A DIVORCE BASED ON GROUNDS UNKNOWN TO ROBERT AND/OR WHICH DID NOT EXIST AT THE TIME HE FILED HIS COUNTER-COMPLAINT FOR DIVORCE.
- II. THE CHANCELLOR COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN GRANTING ROBERT A DIVORCE BECAUSE STEPHANIE ALLEGEDLY ALLOWED VICTORIA TO SLEEP WITH CHICO.
- III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO AWARD STEPHANIE SEPARATE MAINTENANCE AND/OR ALIMONY.
- IV. THE EVIDENCE DOES NOT SUPPORT THE CHANCELLOR'S AWARD OF HALF OF THE CREDIT CARD DEBT OF ROBERT AGAINST ANY EQUITY STEPHANIE MIGHT HAVE IN THE MARITAL HOME.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(i) Course of the Proceedings and Dispositions in the Court Below:

Stephanie Elaina Bounds and Robert Earl Bounds were married on or about November 10, 1984. On or about April 14, 2006, Robert left Stephanie. R.1-2. The couple had three children: Michael, who was emancipated, Victoria (DOB 12/15/93), and Sydney (DOB 10/19/2000). R.6. On April 25, 2008, Stephanie filed a suit for separate maintenance. She asked for custody of Victoria and Sydney and support and an equitable division of the property. She alleged that Robert had deserted her and was subject to ungovernable rages. R.7-8.

Robert answered and counter-claimed for divorce alleging habitual cruel and inhuman treatment, adultery, insanity and irreconcilable differences. He too requested custody of the minor children. R.14-18.

After a trial, the Chancellor, Denise Owens, granted a divorce to Robert on the ground of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment. She awarded full physical legal custody of Victoria and Sydney to Robert. She reserved the question of visitation because of a pending proceeding in

Youth Court that was scheduled for March of 2010.¹ She likewise reserved ruling on the question of child support until a later time because Stephanie was not employed at the time of the hearing and had not been for some time. In addition, she left open the division of any equity in the marital home. She directed Robert to pay \$11,000 in marital credit card debt and gave him an offset of half from the money she awarded to Stephanie from Robert's retirement fund. RE 5-8.

Stephanie timely appealed the judgment. R.80.

(ii) Statement of the Facts:

Robert moved out of the marital home in April of 2006. Tr.3. Stephanie subsequently filed for a divorce on the ground of adultery. That case proceeded to trial with the Chancellor ruling that Stephanie had failed to prove adultery. Stephanie then filed the instant suit for separate maintenance on April 25, 2008. R.1-6. Thereafter on May 30, 2008, Robert filed an answer and also counter-claimed for divorce, alleging among other grounds, habitual cruel and inhuman treatment. R.9-20.

After Robert filed his counter-claim, he learned that Victoria was having sex with her boyfriend Chico in the marital home on Daniel Lake Boulevard that Stephanie and the children were occupying. Exhibit 5 [sealed youth court records]. As a result, Stephanie was indicted for neglect of a child in violation of 97-53-39(1)(C). On August 3, 2009, she pled guilty and received ten years suspended on supervised probation. *See*, sentencing order at Exhibit 2.

The Chancellor granted Robert a divorce based on the ground of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment because Robert testified "that he was affected by that [Stephanie's neglect of Victoria] in such a way that it would constitute habitual cruel and inhuman treatment towards

¹ The youth court had previously acquired jurisdiction because Stephanie had been convicted of allowing the then 14-year-old Victoria to have sex with her boyfriend. At the youth court proceeding, the youth court judge had awarded custody of the children to Robert with supervised visitation to Stephanie. R.69-70. Although the youth court had allowed Stephanie to have

him.” RE 10. She denied the divorce based on Robert’s other grounds of insanity and adultery because of his failure to prove either. RE 10.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Stephanie argues on appeal that the Chancellor erred in granting Robert a divorce based on grounds which arose after he filed his counter-complaint for divorce was filed. She also claims that the Chancellor erred in not granting her support or alimony and erred in giving Robert credit from her equity in the house for his credit card debt.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN GRANTING ROBERT A DIVORCE BASED ON GROUNDS UNKNOWN TO ROBERT AND/OR WHICH DID NOT EXIST AT THE TIME HE FILED HIS COUNTER-COMPLAINT FOR DIVORCE.

A. Standard of Review:

On appeal, the Supreme Court must consider the entire record before it and accept all those facts and reasonable inferences which support the Chancellor’s ruling. *Madden v. Rhodes*, 626 So.2d 608, 616 (Miss. 1993). The Chancellor’s findings will not be disturbed, be they on evidentiary facts or ultimate facts, unless the Chancellor abused her discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or unless she applied the wrong legal standard. *Id.* A finding of fact is “clearly erroneous” when, although there is evidence to support it, the reviewing court, on the entire evidence, is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made. *UHS-Qualicare, Inc. v. Gulf Coast Community Hospital, Inc.*, 525 So.2d 746, 754 (Miss.1987)).

In summary, findings of fact are entitled to deference when reviewed on appeal but will be reversed where they are not supported by substantial evidence. Rulings of law, however, are subject to *de novo* review. *Dorr v. Dorr*, 797 So.2d 1008 (Miss.App. 2001).

supervised visitation, Robert refused to allow her to see the children unless they stayed within his earshot. Tr.114.

B. The Merits:

At the time Robert filed his counter complaint for divorce, Stephanie had not been indicted for child neglect. Moreover, there is no evidence that Robert was aware of the underlying facts constituting the neglect when he filed for divorce. Consequently, at the time he sued for divorce, he had no basis for claiming habitual cruel and inhuman treatment.

The general rule has long been that acts of misconduct committed after the original complaint for divorce is filed cannot serve as the sole basis for granting a divorce on the original complaint. *Hilley v. Hiley*, 275 Ala. 617, 157 So.2d 215 (1963); *Sterling v. Sterling*, 145 Md 631, 125 A. 809 (1924).

Moreover,

[t]here is a necessity for this causal relationship [between the treatment and the separation] to be proved when relying on the ground of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment, and it must be related in point of time to the separation. *Harrison v. Harrison*, 285 So.2d 752 (Miss.1973); *Bunkley and Morse's Amis Divorce and Separation in Mississippi*, § 3.14(17) (1957); *N. Hand, Divorce, Alimony and Child Custody*, § 4.12, (1981); *Divorce: Habitual Cruel And Inhuman Treatment*, 45 M.L.J. 1073 (1974).

Fournet v. Fournet, 481 So.2d 326, 329 (Miss. 1985). *Accord, Rawson v. Buta*, 609 So.2d 426, 430-432 (Miss. 1992); *Chamblee v. Chamblee*, 637 So.2d 850, 859-860 (Miss. 1994),

Here the grounds for divorce arose after Robert filed his counter complaint. Moreover, there is no causal connection between the separation and Robert's subsequent counter-claim and the habitual cruel and inhuman treatment on which he obtained the divorce. Therefore, it was error for the Chancellor to grant Robert a divorce because of Stephanie's alleged ill-treatment of Victoria.

II. THE CHANCELLOR COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN GRANTING ROBERT A DIVORCE BECAUSE STEPHANIE ALLEGEDLY ALLOWED VICTORIA TO SLEEP WITH CHICO.

A. Standard of Review:

See, Standard in Proposition I.

B. The Merits:

As a matter of law, Robert is not entitled to a divorce on the ground of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment because of Stephanie's conviction or the underlying conduct of child neglect. Although a chancellor may grant a divorce on the grounds of "habitual, cruel and inhuman treatment." Miss.Code Ann. § 93-5-1 (1972), the testimony of the plaintiff must be substantially corroborated. Furthermore, evidence sufficient to establish habitual, cruel and inhuman treatment should prove conduct that:

either endanger[s] life, limb or health, or create[s] a reasonable apprehension of such danger, rendering the relationship unsafe for the party seeking relief or, in the alternative, be so unnatural and infamous as to make the marriage revolting to the offending spouse and render it impossible for that spouse to discharge the duties of the marriage, thus destroying the basis for its continuance [citations omitted].

Rawson v. Buta, 609 So.2d 426, 430-31 (Miss. 1992). A causal connection between the treatment and separation must exist. *Fournet v. Fournet*, 481 So.2d 326, 328 (Miss.1985).

Before punishment, neglect or abuse of a child can constitute grounds of a divorce for habitual cruel and inhuman treatment, the treatment must be "solely for the purpose of giving him [the offended spouse] grief, and to affect his health [internal citations omitted]." *Romero v. Dautrielle*, 163 La.597, 112 So. 498 (1927). Here there is no evidence whatsoever that the conduct was for the purpose of giving Robert grief or affecting his health. Indeed, there is no evidence whatsoever that the conduct had any effect on Robert's health.

Moreover,"[i]his Court has explained that the cruelty required must be "so gross, unfeeling and brutal as to render further cohabitation impossible except at the risk of life, limb or health on the part of the unoffending spouse [emphasis in original]." *Jones v. Jones*, 2009 WL 4808216, 26-27 (Miss.App. 2009) [internal citations omitted and emphasis in

original]. The only evidence presented by Robert as to the effect of Stephanie's conviction and/or the underlying conduct was Robert's testimony:

I can't even stand to even—I can't even bear to see the house to know what went on there before and after our previous trial.² My father has to go cut the grass over there. The house has been vandalized. I continue to pay the note, but I simply cannot make myself go over there.

Tr.74.

This testimony fails to rise to the level of ill treatment so severe as to cause the risk to life, limb or the health of the offended spouse required to justify granting a divorce. For example, in the case of *Fournet v. Fournet*, 481 So.2d at 329, Mrs. Fournet testified that a lack of communication was the problem. "I am sure that I was some of the problem, but not all of the problem. . . . John has never endangered my life. . . . He has endangered my health and emotional state . . . this was both of our problem. . . . I did not consider continuing to live in my home unsafe He intimidated me many times over many different issues I was afraid to spend much money." The Court found Mrs. Fournet's conclusory allegations that her health and emotional state were "endangered" were insufficient to constitute habitual cruel and inhuman treatment. *Id.* Additionally, Mrs. Fournet offered no proof as to a causal connection between the cruel treatment of which she complained and her separation from the household.

The same is true here. Not wanting to go to the house is plainly insufficient proof of danger to health and emotional well being to warrant a divorce. Therefore, the Chancellor committed legal error in granting the divorce.

III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO AWARD STEPHANIE SEPARATE MAINTENANCE AND/OR ALIMONY.

A. Standard of Review:

² Because the alleged cruelty did not occur prior to the last trial for divorce, Robert is referring there to Stephanie's alleged adultery which took place there. The Chancellor, however, found insufficient evidence of adultery.

See, Proposition I.

B. The Merits:

The trial court failed to award Stephanie separate maintenance or alimony despite overwhelming evidence that Stephanie was unable to support herself and required spousal support.

Miss. Code Ann. § 93-5-23 provides that “[w]hen a divorce shall be decreed from the bonds of matrimony, the court may, in its discretion, . . . make all orders . . . touching the maintenance and alimony of the wife or the husband.” To assist the chancellor in making the determination as to whether an award of alimony is appropriate, the chancellor is required to consider the factors set out in *Armstrong v. Armstrong*, 618 So.2d 1278, 1280 (Miss.1993). These factors include: (1) The income and expenses of the parties; (2) The health and earning capacities of the parties; (3) The needs of each party; (4) The obligations and assets of each party; (5) The length of the marriage; (6) The presence or absence of minor children in the home, which may require that one or both of the parties either pay, or personally provide, child care; (7) The age of the parties; (8) The standard of living of the parties, both during the marriage and at the time of the support determination; (9) The tax consequences of the spousal support order; (10) Fault or misconduct; (11) Wasteful dissipation of assets by either party; or (12) Any other factor deemed by the court to be “just and equitable” in connection with the setting of spousal support.

The Chancellor made no findings regarding these factors and never even discussed the issue of alimony or spousal support for Stephanie. The testimony established that since Robert quit paying support to Stephanie after he left the marital home,³ Stephanie had been unable to work and was relying on her parents to provide her with a place to stay, a car and other support.

Robert argued as one of the grounds for divorce that Stephanie was insane. He testified that he began to notice “a very noticeable effect of her being troubled around 1997-98.” Tr.115. She was treated at St. Dominic’s and University Medical Center in Robert’s words, “multiple times,” for mental health treatment. Tr.96. According to him, he was “not sure help is going to help,”and that Stephanie was “totally lost” and psychologically damaged in some form. Tr. 96-97. Notwithstanding, he testified that she was able to work and support herself.

Stephanie testified that she had been diagnosed and treated for depression, bipolar disorder and post-traumatic stress disorder. Tr. 17-18. Stephanie testified that she had only a high school education. Although she had been employed as a salesperson and secretary at times during the marriage when Robert was laid off, she had no training and been unable to find work since the separation. Tr. 7-9. Moreover, early in the marriage, Robert asked that she stay home and take care of the family. Tr.8.

The parties were married for 25 years. Tr. 98. Robert, who is an architectural designer/draftsman, has an income of \$3779 a month after taxes. Tr.88. Stephanie testified that while married Robert wanted her to stay at home and raise the children, which is what she did, even home schooling the children at once point. Stephanie, therefore, was entitled to separate maintenance (if the divorce was improperly granted). Alternatively, she was entitled to spousal support. *Blalack v. Blalack*, 938 So.2d 909 (Miss.App. 2006). [wife of 16 years was entitled to alimony of \$500.00 a month where both were disabled, husband received \$4,291 per month in benefits, whereas wife received \$739 per month].

³ Notwithstanding his failure to support Stephanie, he continued to claim her as a dependent on his income tax. Tr.104.

IV. THE EVIDENCE DOES NOT SUPPORT THE CHANCELLOR'S AWARD OF HALF OF THE CREDIT CARD DEBT OF ROBERT AGAINST ANY EQUITY STEPHANIE MIGHT HAVE IN THE MARITAL HOME.

A. Standard of Review:

See, Proposition I.

C. The Merits:

The Chancellor found that “[t]he parties have accrued \$11,000.00 in marital credit card debt. The Court required Robert to pay the credit card debt because he was the only one employed; however, she gave him an “offset of \$5,500.00 towards any equity owed to Stephanie” from her share of Robert’s retirement account.⁴ RE 7. The Chancellor erred because there is no evidence that the \$11,000.00 was marital debt. The testimony at trial was that Robert, and Robert alone, accrued the debt after the parties separated. He testified that the charges were for “expenses, clothing for the children, school expenses and things like that for the children or for myself [emphasis].” Tr. 84. He presented no documentary evidence in support of any of the charges.

Where, as here, there are no specific findings of fact provided by the chancellor, this Court must look to the evidence and see what state of facts will justify the decree. *Boatright v. Horton*, 233 Miss. 444, 102 So.2d 373, 374 (1958). This Court, however, “may not credit unspoken findings not fairly inferable from the trial court’s action.” *Riddle v. State*, 580 So.2d 1195, 1200 (Miss.1991); *Century 21 Deep South Properties, Ltd. v. Corson*, 612 So.2d 359, 367 (Miss.1992). *Accord, United States v. Castaneda*, 162 F.3d 832, 835 (5th Cir. 1998) [where the trial court fails to make written findings of facts, the appellate court will review the claim de novo to ascertain if the facts support the holding].

Robert presented no evidence that the \$11,000 in credit card debt was marital debt other than his unsubstantiated testimony that some of it was for the children. Marital debt is defined as debt which benefits the marriage. *Fitzgerald v. Fitzgerald*, 914 So.2d 193, 197 (Miss.App. 2005). Robert presented no evidence of a marital debt through his financial disclosure statement or his testimony. He presented no testimony at all that incurring the expenses was necessary. Consequently, the Court erred in awarding him half of the credit card debt. *McLemore v. McLemore*, 762 So.2d 316, 321 (Miss. 2000)

CONCLUSION

The Chancellor's decision to award Robert a divorce is not supported by the record. Moreover, assuming for the sake of argument only that a divorce was warranted, Stephanie should have been granted alimony, and she should not have been required to pay half of Robert's credit card debt.