IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STEPHANIE ELAINA BOUNDS

APPELLANT

VS.

.....

NO. 2010-CA-00074-SCT

ROBERT EARL BOUNDS

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JOHN D. FIKE; MSB P.O. DRAWER 90 RAYMOND, MISSISSIPPI 39154 TELEPHONE: (601) 857-5282 FACSIMILE: (601) 857-2541 Attorney for Appellee

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STEPHANIE ELAINA BOUNDS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2010-CA-00074-SCT

ROBERT EARL BOUNDS

APPELLEE

ſ

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Based on the undisputed facts of this case, Robert Bounds clearly knew about Stephanie Bounds' criminal activity prior to filing his Counter-Complaint for Divorce. Robert Bounds' testimony clearly shows that this aforementioned criminal behavior was causally related to and/or proximately caused the separation. As a question of fact, this finding was subject to the chancellor's discretion.

Furthermore, the continuing criminal activity and subsequent indictment and conviction of Miss. Code Ann. § 97-5-39(1)(c), permitting sexual abuse of a child, is clearly sufficient to award Robert Bounds a divorce on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment. However, the awarding of separate maintenance, if the fault-based divorce is overturned on appeal, is still a matter of discretion for the chancellor based on the facts presented and the parties' testimony and should be left undisturbed by this Court.

Lastly, the chancellor was correct in her division of marital debt, as Robert Bounds' undisputed testimony was that the credit card debt was incurred in order to raise the children. As it is also Stephanie Bounds' responsibility to support the children, offsetting the credit card debt against her share of Robert Bounds' retirement account was imminently fair and reasonable.

I. THE CHANCELLOR'S GRANTING OF A DIVORCE WAS BASED ON GROUNDS WHICH ROBERT BOUNDS WAS CLEARLY AWARE OF PRIOR TO THE FILING OF THE COUNTER-COMPLAINT.

On April 25, 2008, Stephanie Bounds filed a *Complaint for Separate Maintenance*.² On May 30, 2008, Robert Bounds filed *Defendant's Response to Complaint for Separate Maintenance and Counter-Complaint for Divorce*. In that Counter-Complaint, he asked for a divorce on the grounds of irreconcilable differences, adultery, insanity, and habitual cruel and inhuman treatment.³

These dates are important, particularly when viewed against the dates of Stephanie Bound's criminal behavior, indictment, and subsequent conviction. It is undisputed that Stephanie Bounds was indicted by grand jury in the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi, prior to February 27, 2009, the date the indictment was filed with the district court. A.R.E. 18.

Furthermore the indictment held that there was probable cause to find that "on, about and between the *1st day January 2008* and the *29th day of October*," Stephanie Bounds "did willfully, unlawfully, feloniously and knowingly permit the continuing sexual abuse of V.B., a fourteen year old female child . . . by Armulfo Hernandez Vargas, a 24-year old male . . ." A.R.E. 18 (emphasis added).

Robert Bound's Counter-Complaint for divorce was filed on May 30, 2008, over five months *after* the behavior that lead to Stephanie Bounds' indictment and subsequent conviction began. R.E. 1. Therefore, appellant's argument that there is no causal

² Stephanie Bounds filed a divorce on the grounds of adultery in or around April of 2007. The matter was tried before the Honorable Denise Owens on or about December 15, 2007, the same being Civil Action No. G-2007-548 O/3. Judge Owens found that Stephanie Bounds did not have grounds for divorce and the same was dismissed.

³ The ground of insanity was abandoned by Appellee at trial.

connection between the separation and the behavior surrounding the granting of a divorce on the grounds of habitual cruel and human treatment is simply not borne out by the facts of the case. Robert Bounds clearly knew about the behavior prior to filing his Counterclaim, and he testified at trial how it affected his willingness to repair the marriage:

- Q: So you have made every effort to save your marriage?
- A: On many occasions, yes.
- Q: And with what you know about your wife's conviction now, is there any way that you can stay in this marriage?
- A: Absolutely not. A.R.E. 19.

A particularly illuminating exchange followed shortly thereafter:

Q:	And why is that?
A:	Why am I asking for habitual cruel and inhuman treatment?
Q:	Yes.
A:	The habitual cruel and inhuman treatment to my children. No child should ever have to endure what those children endured, nor myself.
MR. MARKS:	Judge, we're going to object to that, now, because you stopped us from going behind the last divorce.
THE WITNESS:	I'm not going behind it, Your Honor.
THE COURT:	Okay. When an objection is made, you need to wait till I rule on it.
THE WITNESS.	I'm sorry.
THE COURT:	I'll overrule it. His reference was to the recent indictment. A.R.E. 20-21.

Appellant is correct that *Fournet* is the governing standard for causation in the state of Mississippi:

There is a necessity for this causal relationship [between the treatment and the separation] to be proved when relying on the ground of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment, and it must be related in point of time to the separation. *Harrison v. Harrison*, 285 So.2d 752 (Miss. 1973); Bunkley and Morse's Amis Divorce and Separation in Mississippi, § 3.14(17) (1957); N. Hand, Divorce, Alimony and Child Custody, § 4.12, (1981); Divorce; Habitual Cruel and Inhuman Treatment, 45 M.L.J. 1073 (1974). *Fournet v. Fournet*, 481 So.2d 326, 329 (Miss. 1985). Accord, *Rawson v. Buta*, 609 So.2d 426, 430-432 (Miss. 1992); *Chamblee v. Chamblee*, 627 So.2d 850, 859-860 (Miss. 1994).

Appellant's error lies in application. A chronological view of the relevant documents surrounding the divorce clearly shows an action filed in the spirit of Fournet. Stephanie's criminal behavior clearly was the causal spark that caused the irrevocable end of the marriage and set in motion the filing of the original Counter-Claim for Divorce. At the very least, it was motivation for the filing of the Amended Counter-Claim filed on December 16, 2009.

As was shown at trial, the behavior which led to the indictment, as noted by the Chancellor, was one of the main reasons why Robert Bounds filed for a habitual cruel and inhuman treatment grounds divorce. As such, Robert was clearly aware of Stephanie Bounds' behavior and subsequent indictment prior to the time he filed his Counter-Complaint for divorce.

Furthermore, it is undisputed that Robert Bounds filed an Amended Counter-Complaint that contained a collusion oath as mandated under Miss. Code Ann. § 93-5-7 (Rev. 2004) on December 16, 2009, the day of trial. A.R.E. 22-26. The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that "[w]hile the trial court has discretion to allow an

amendment and should do so freely under the proper circumstances, an amendment should not be granted when it would prejudice the other party." *Jones v. Fluor Daniel Services Corporation*, 2008-CA-00456-SCT (Miss. 2010) citing *Hester v. Bandy*, 627 So.2d 833, 839 (Miss. 1993).

÷...-

Although Appellant duly objected to the introduction of this Amended Counter-Claim during trial, *she has failed to raise the issue on appeal*, thereby waiving any attendant prejudicial issues that may have arose from its filing. *Beene v. Ferguson Automotive, Inc.*, 2009-CA-00540-COA (Miss. Ct. App. 2010) (Conversely holding that because county court judge's decision not to allow the amending of a complaint was not property appealed, all ability to litigate the propriety of the denial was terminated). As this issue was not raised on appeal by the appellant, no prejudice, even if it existed, can be raised.

As such the Amended Counter-Complaint is clearly sufficient to maintain the requirement of the *Fournet* standard. The Amended Counter-Complaint, which was identical to the original Counter-Complaint with the exception of the added collusion oath, was filed *over nine months* after Stephanie Bounds' indictment and *over four months* after her subsequent conviction. This is important, because even if Robert Bounds was unaware of the behavior leading to Stephanie Bounds' indictment and subsequent conviction at the time of the filing of the initial Counter-Complaint, he surely was aware at trial on December 16, 2009.

For these reasons, the Chancellor's granting of a divorce did not violate the *Fournet* standard and was based on sufficient evidence in the record. As such, this Court

should uphold the Chancellor's decision to grant Robert Bounds a divorce on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment.

II. THE INDICTMENT AND SUBSEQUENT CONVICTION OF STEPHANIE BOUNDS FOR NEGLECT OF A CHILD, IN VIOLATION OF MISSISSIPPI CODE ANN. § 97-5-39(1)(C), IS SUFFICIENT GROUNDS TO AWARD ROBERT A DIVORCE ON THE GROUND OF HABITUAL CRUEL AND INHUMAN TREATMENT.

It is undisputed that Stephanie Bounds was indicted on a charge of neglect of a child, in violation of Miss. Code Ann. § 97-5-39(1)(c). On August 3, 2009, she pled guilty and was convicted of the aforementioned criminal charge and was sentenced to 10 years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, with 10 years to be suspended and 5 of those years to be with supervised probation.⁴ A.R.E. 18. The charges underlying the conviction was that Stephanie Bounds allowed Chico Vargas, a 24-year-old man, to stay in the house and have a continuing sexual relationship with Victoria, Stephanie and Robert's then 14-year-old daughter. A.R.E. 18.

At the divorce trial, Robert testified about the effect of Stephanie's actions on their marriage:

- Q: And you left the marital home?
- A: Yes.
- Q: And where you're staying today, is there any possible scenario that you would go back to the marital home?
- A: No.
- Q: And why is that?

⁴ The Order contains an obvious scrivener's error- it states that Stephanie Bounds was guilty of violating Miss. Code Ann. 97-53-39(1)(c)- a statute that does not exist. The correct citation is Miss. Code Ann. 97-5-39(1)(c).

A: I can't even stand to even—I can't even bear to see the house to know what went on there before and after our previous trial. My father has to go cut the grass over there. The house has been vandalized. I continue to pay the note, but I simply cannot make myself go over there. AR.E. 27.

He also further testified:

- Q: And why is that?
- A: Why am I asking for habitual cruel and inhuman treatment?
- Q: Yes.
- A: The habitual cruel and inhuman treatment to my children. No child should ever have to endure what those children endured, nor myself. A.R.E. 20.

In her findings of fact, the Chancellor held that the activities of Stephanie and

resulting conviction constituted sufficient grounds for habitual cruel and inhuman

treatment under Mississippi law:

Initially, I would address the Complaint for Separate Maintenance first; however, the Court finds that because Mr. Bounds has established that he is entitled to a divorce on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment, then it would not be necessary to address the grounds of separate maintenance, as a divorce will be granted.

And this particular case is a more unusual ground of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment because it does not come with the attendant physical abuse that most often characterizes a ground of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment. It does, however, come with acts of other type of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment. For example, the courts have held that a spouse's conduct, for example, in taking children and secreting them from a spouse would constitute a habitual cruel and inhuman treatment if the spouse also, as a result of that, feels as if the act is habitually cruel.

Other instances, allowing certain people to live in a home who have criminal records while the other person may be afraid of them has been found to constitute habitual cruel and inhuman treatment. Even situations where a spouse dresses in male and female clothes has been held to constitute habitual cruel and inhuman treatment.

In this particular case, Mrs. Bounds was, based on the indictment and on the sentencing report, convicted of neglect of a child, a felony pursuant to § 97-53-39. The acts more specifically are set forth in the Youth Court report, indicating the facts on which the indictment and guilty plea is based.

After the testimony of Mr. Bounds, it is clear that he was affected by that in such a way that it would constitute habitual cruel and inhuman treatment towards him. That was evidenced by his inability to even go by the marital home in which the events occurred. So the Court finds that, based upon that, he is entitled to a divorce on the ground of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment. R.E. 8-10.

As will be shown below, this finding is clearly supported under Mississippi law.

In Mississippi, evidence sufficient to establish habitual cruel and inhuman

treatment should prove conduct that:

[E]ither endangers life, limb or health, or creates a reasonable apprehension of such danger, rendering the relationship unsafe for the party seeking relief or, in the alternative, be so unnatural and infamous as to make the marriage revolting to the offending spouse and render it impossible for that spouse to discharge the duties of the marriage, thus destroying the basis for its continuance. *Rawson v. Buta*, 609 So.2d 426, 430-31 (Miss. 1992).

Appellant's reliance on Jones v. Jones, is misguided. The Jones Court made it clear that

the statutory language above provides two separate and distinct bases for granting a

divorce in Mississippi based on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment.

2008-CA-00675-COA (Miss. App. 2009). The quote cited by the Appellant refers to the

first prong of the statute, which allows a divorce on the grounds of habitual cruel and

inhuman treatment due to the endangering of life, limb, or health, and is inapplicable to

the instant case.

Robert Bounds was granted a divorce on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment based on the second prong of the statute, which allows for the divorce if the conduct "is so unnatural and infamous as to make the marriage revolting to the nonoffending spouse and render it impossible for that spouse to discharge the duties of marriage, thus destroying the basis for its continuance." Miss. Code Ann. § 93-5-1 (Rev. 2004).

Furthermore, the Mississippi Court of Appeals has noted, under the second prong of the statute, that the "impact of the conduct upon the non-offending spouse is a subjective test, thus falling within the province of the chancellor; therefore, it is beyond this Court's scope of review. *Keough v. Keough*, 742 So.2d 781, 782 (¶5)(Miss. Ct. App. 1999); Deborah H. Bell, Bell on Mississippi Family Law § 4.02(8)(b) at 72 (2005). Intrinsic in this analysis is whether the record supports the chancellor's findings that the offensive conduct occurred, and if it occurred, whether it was so repugnant as to render the discharge of marital duties impossible for the offended spouse. *Jones v. Jones*, 2008-CA-00675-COA (Miss. App. 2009).

The offensive conduct – Stephanie's neglect of Victoria by allowing Chico Vargas to have continual sexual relations with her in the home – is undisputed. The subsequent guilty plea and conviction, in addition to Victoria's testimony at trial, prove that the offensive conduct occurred. A.R.E. 18; A.R.E. 28-38.

Thus the sole issue is whether or not the behavior of Stephanie was so repugnant as to render Robert's discharge of the marital duties impossible. The appellate court's role is not to determine whether or not the offending conduct affected Robert; that is a finding of fact left to the sole discretion of the Chancellor. *Id.* It is the appellate court's role to determine whether or not the conduct itself was severe enough to warrant a granting of divorce on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment. *Id.*

Mississippi case law is silent on whether or not a conviction of neglect of a child, in violation of Miss. Code Ann. § 97-53-39(1)(c) (Rev. 2004), constitutes grounds to grant a divorce on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment. However, there is case law showing less severe conduct as qualifying to meet the standard. The Mississippi Supreme Court has recognized that sexual indignity can rise to the level of being so repugnant to the non-offending spouse so as to render impossible the discharge of marital duties, thereby defeating the whole purpose of the marriage. *Crutcher v. Crutcher*, 86 Miss. at 231, 38 So. 33 (Miss. 1905); *Stockton v. Stockton*, 203 So.2d 806, 807 (Miss. 1967). Furthermore, this sexual indignity can extend to activities with the children. In *Jones*, for example, the Mississippi Court of Appeals held that a father's "inappropriate bathing rituals" with his children also constituted evidence of sexual indignity. 2008-CA-00675-COA (Miss. App. 2009).

The *Jones* Court, surveying Mississippi law, further explicated the role of sexual indignity for granting a divorce on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment:

In seeking guidance from precedent regarding repugnance of sexual indignities, we turn to the early case of *Crutcher*, 86 Miss. at 231, 38 So. at 337, where the supreme court found that pederasty on the part of a spouse, like sodomy, fell within the meaning of cruel and inhuman treatment under the divorce statutes as an infamous indignity to the wife. In *Crutcher*, the wife considered the indignity to be so revolting that she could not discharge her duties as a spouse, and the court recognized that such inability to discharge the marital duties would defeat the whole purpose of the relation. *Id*.

Similarly, in *Cherry* [v. *Cherry*, 593 So.2d 13, 17 (Miss. 1991)], the supreme court found that testimony concerning the husband's sexual problems, including impotence and dressing in women's clothing, provided sufficient evidence to support granting a divorce on the ground of habitual and inhuman treatment. Additionally, the wife testified that her husband's sexual problems

"like to [have] drove her insane." *Id.* In *Stockton*, 203 So.2d at 807, Mr. Stockton asked Mrs. Stockton to engage in unnatural sexual relations, and suggested that they whip each other. He also allegedly asked Mrs. Stockton to engage in similar relations with another man. *Id.* The supreme court affirmed the chancellor's grant of a divorce based upon habitual cruel and inhuman treatment. *Id.* at 808.

Jones, 2008-CA-00675-COA. If pederasty, a form of sexual child abuse, is sufficient grounds to grant a divorce on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment, then clearly permitting continuing sexual abuse of a child rises to the same level of offensive conduct. In *Jones*, there was no sexual abuse alleged other than "inappropriate bathing rituals," which the court held to be evidence of sexual indignity. And, as noted by the Chancellor in her findings of fact, the Mississippi Supreme Court has granted a divorce on these grounds due to the spouse's impotence and inclination to wear women's clothing. *Cherry*, 593 So.2d at 17. Surely permitting continuing sexual abuse of a child is a far more heinous activity.

It is undisputed that Stephanie Bounds plead guilty to a criminal count of neglect of a child, in violation of Miss. Code Ann. § 97-5-39(1)(c), and was sentenced to 10 years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, with 10 years to be suspended and 5 of those years to be with supervised probation. The statute in question she pled guilty to violating states:

> (c) A parent, legal guardian or other person who knowingly permits the continuing physical or sexual abuse of a child is guilty of neglect of a child and may be sentenced to imprisonment for not more than ten (10) years or to payment of a fine of not more than Ten Thousand Dollars (10,000.00), or both. Miss. Code Ann. § 97-5-39(1)(c) (emphasis added).

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